
1 
 

 

TOWN OF CAROLINA SHORES 

  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING MINUTES 
March 27, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 

 

 

Mayor Joyce Dunn called the March 27, 2019 Economic Development Commission Special 
Called meeting to order at 6:10 p.m. Commissioners present: Bill Brennan, Gere Dale, Greg 
Davis and Beverly Mayhew. Also, present: Jon Mendenhall, Town Administrator and Nicole 
Hewett, Town Clerk. 
 
Absent:  Commissioner Joseph J. Przywara 
 
Ocean Side Place Board of Directors Present:  Mr. Ed Rowe, President; Mr. Bob Leger, Vice-
President (left at 7:04pm); Ms. Judy Fitzgerald, Secretary; Mr. Jerry Jenkins, Treasurer and Mr. 
Warren Weaver, Member at-large. 
 
Neighborhood Development: 

 

Mr. Mendenhall said the purpose of this meeting is for neighborhood development to talk with 
Ocean Side Place to get a feel of how your neighborhood is progressing and what you are looking 
for as a partnership with the Town.  Mr. Mendenhall said to also see where you see yourselves going 
regardless of that the Town is doing and going. Mr. Mendenhall said very informal.  An Ocean Side 
Place representative said he initiated an email a couple of months ago to try to get together to 
explore possible annexation because he was getting a lot of questions. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said he and Mr. Mendenhall had a very nice meeting and they exchanged thoughts.  
An Ocean Side Place representative said we are a community of 234 detached homes. An Ocean 
Side Place representative said we have 1.8 miles of roads and cannot give a measurement on swales.  
An Ocean Side Place representative said we share a perimeter of one side of ditch with Carolina 
Shores North. An Ocean Side Place representative said we recently met with them to discuss the 
flow of water. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have 66 acres.  An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we have 23,354 square yards of roads and we know that because we met with 
Weaver Paving as our roads are deteriorating.  An Ocean Side Place representative said one day you 
can walk the roads and two days later it is even more severe. An Ocean Side Place representative 
said we are trying to devise a plan over the next five years or so to seal the roads. An Ocean Side 
Place representative said Weaver came back and said they cannot seal the roads in the shape they are 
in and we would be putting good money out to bat.  An Ocean Side Place representative said 
Weaver said they could use the money they budgeted for sealing or patching and to do crack sealing. 
An Ocean Side Place representative said Weaver is coming back next week to do more 
measurements and give us a better financial look on what it is going to cost. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we are going to basically do a piece-meal one section at a time.  An Ocean Side 
Place representative said the swales will need work and when we spoke to Carolina Shores North 
about the low point in that ditch, there was a lot of debris and silt.  An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we have a resident expert of our community, Mark Butler who has spent his 
entire career dealing in water control and Mr. Butler said that we cannot clean that area manually, 
we will need to bring in some equipment and knock down a couple of trees and we have that ahead 
of us.  An Ocean Side Place representative said as to the exact measurement on the swales, he does 
know we pay taxes on 5.5 acres of common ground. An Ocean Side Place representative said we 
pay $703.00 in dues a year. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have 9 homes up for sale 
and 4 are pending. An Ocean Side Place representative said we sold 23 homes in one year.  An 



2 
 

Ocean Side Place representative said last year there were 9 homes sold. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said the developer left in 2006. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have been 
doing some patching and are happy with the work.  An Ocean Side Place representative said we use 
our lamp posts on our lawns for lighting at night. An Ocean Side Place representative said we do not 
have streetlights. Mayor Dunn asked if they maintain the lamp posts and the answer was no, each 
homeowner is responsible for their own. An Ocean Side Place representative said it’s in the 
Covenants that the lamp posts must be on all night long and it seems to work very well. 
Commissioner Brennan asked if the POA pays that bill and the answer was no, each homeowner 
pays their own, it’s in the covenants. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have something 
unique in our community, we only have one entrance/exit. Commissioner Davis said that is not 
unique. An Ocean Side Place representative said there was discussion on the senior center building 
across the street and they have a pump station right at our entrance. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we were fearful that when the new communities went through, they were going 
to try to hook up to their sewer pump but they don’t know at this time. 35-40% are part-time 
residents. Commissioner Davis said census wise there are only about 60%-65% of your residents 
there full-time. Mayor Dunn asked if there was 1 or 2 occupants or families.  An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we have 1 or 2 and there are a few families. An Ocean Side Place representative 
said we were told that Brunswick County is the 13th fastest growing County in the U.S., that’s what 
we were told.  An Ocean Side Place representative said there was discussion on Senior Housing 
Center, the three-story building which consists of 60 units and is market rent.  There was discussion 
on conditional approval for a dirt road that a gentleman uses and is land locked.  An Ocean Side 
Place representative said the builder came to some type of agreement on how they were going to 
access the property. An Ocean Side Place representative said in discussion with Carolina Shores 
North, they felt very positive with their steps towards annexation and we are here to explore. 
Commissioner Davis asked if they know the steps it takes to annex and the answer was yes, they do.  
Commissioner Davis said only the registered voters can vote. Mr. Mendenhall said it is only a 
simple majority of the vote. Mr. Mendenhall said there is another way where you can have every 
property owner sign a petition like we did with Novant but there were only 4 property owners.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said you could do that but you would have to get everybody, 100%.  An Ocean Side 
Place representative asked if it shows on the ballot and Mr. Mendenhall said yes it does but only for 
your precinct. Commissioner Davis asked what the neighborhood talk has been about annexation. 
An Ocean Side Place representative said we have some that are opposed.  An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we had a Board meeting last night and we did not officially put it on the agenda 
but in the interest of transparency we said we were meeting with the Town tonight. An Ocean Side 
Place representative said we discussed it and he read the Town’s Annexation brochure. An Ocean 
Side Place representative said as he read it, you could see that a lot of the people that were originally 
negative, started to feel a little more positive about it because of all the expenses that we are going to 
incur down the road. An Ocean Side Place representative said as you know, as a community gets 
older and older you start to ask how long is the pool going to last, how long is the roof going to last.  
An Ocean Side Place representative said originally the people that were negative, were starting to 
hear the facts. An Ocean Side Place representative said they are very interested in what we find out 
here tonight. An Ocean Side Place representative said they led us to believe that. Commissioner 
Brennan said there would be extra revenues coming into the Town, which the POA doesn’t get 
because you are not a Town. Mr. Mendenhall said we talked to Carolina Shores North about that.  
Mr. Mendenhall discussed local sales tax in Brunswick County and the head count. Mr. Mendenhall 
said the sales tax per capita, per head is $330.00 and that’s why the percentage of people lives in 
your community is important.  Mr. Mendenhall said you pay $0.10 on a hundred; so, if you have a 
$200,000.00 home, you pay $200.00 in real estate taxes and you’re getting back $660.00 if there are 
two people in the home. Commissioner Davis said you talked about your roads deteriorating and 
there is an expense there in the next five years and you have some ditches that need maintenance. 
Commissioner Davis said do you understand that if you annex, that does not automatically move 
those roads up to the top and the response was we understand that. Commissioner Davis said we 



3 
 

already have 25.5 miles of roads and 50 miles of ditches and they said we understand.  Mr. 
Mendenhall reviewed the revenue stream.  Mr. Mendenhall said the first is the ad valorem tax and 
that is your property tax that consists of real estate and personal property.  Mr. Mendenhall said the 
second and largest revenue is the sales tax.  Mr. Mendenhall said the sales tax generates about 
$1,000,000.00 here.  Mr. Mendenhall said the sales tax all goes to the County and they divide it up 
on a per capita basis.  Mr. Mendenhall said there are different methods throughout the state but 
Brunswick County settled on per capita. There was further discussion on sales tax distribution.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said during 2008 with the financial crisis, there was a 15% reduction and the next year it 
was a 25% reduction and that’s 40% in two years which is a huge loss.  Mr. Mendenhall said it’s 
one of our least favorite revenues because it is based on sale transactions.  Mr. Mendenhall said the 
next one is called the Powell Bill.  Mr. Mendenhall said this allows the state to share gas tax money 
with municipalities.  Mr. Mendenhall said it’s on a mileage and per capita basis.  Mr. Mendenhall 
said the Powell Bill money stays very, very level and its very secure source of revenue.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said that’s the gas tax you pay in North Carolina.  Mr. Mendenhall said there are types 
of cable tv franchise taxes, electrical excise tax, beer, wine and alcohol.  Commissioner Davis said 
we do not have an ABC store in Town.  An Ocean Side Place representative said if we were 
reaching the point where we were leaning towards annexation, are there upfront costs for us as a 
community.  Mr. Mendenhall said we need to talk about that but we need to talk about the process 
first so you can understand the level it takes to get there.  Mr. Mendenhall said the first thing we 
need to do after talking about all of this is that if you want us to explore, we would need a non-
binding letter of interest to explore from Ocean Side Place.  Mr. Mendenhall said from there, we 
hold numerable meetings and ask questions until there are no more questions.  Mr. Mendenhall said 
then you can go home and talk about it.  Mr. Mendenhall said after all that and you seriously want us 
to study it, there is a study cost as a two-phase study.  Mr. Mendenhall said one is the statutory land-
use test.  Mr. Mendenhall said that test is to see if you are eligible per statute to be annexed.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said do you meet the population; do you meet the construction as-built requirements 
which means do you have enough units per acre.  Mr. Mendenhall said that is Phase 1 of the study 
and that costs money.  Mr. Mendenhall said we are not sure how much that costs, we are waiting on 
a proposal from a consultant.  Mr. Mendenhall said Carolina Shores North was in the $7,500.00 - 
$10,000.00 range for Phase 1.  Mr. Mendenhall said if everybody is agreeable at that point and you 
are really interested in pursuing it further, we go to the Financial Study.  Mr. Mendenhall said this is 
what is the condition of the roads, how much money needs to be spent on the roads and ditches.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said this gives us revenue and expenditure picture.  Mr. Mendenhall said nobody wants 
to move forward if the ending balance just looks horrible.  Mr. Mendenhall said if that looks good 
and all the stars align so to speak, the third thing is for you to write a letter stating that you are 
interested in pursuing an annexation referendum and putting it on the ballot. Mr. Mendenhall said 
you have some policy questions that this Commission would have to decide.  Mr. Mendenhall said 
would they want you to cost share in good faith, pay for half the study or pay for all the study.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said he can’t answer that right now and this Commission would have to discuss that and 
get back to you.  Mr. Mendenhall said we don’t want to be spending all this money if nobody is 
serious.  Mr. Mendenhall said nobody needs to decide that tonight, you need to go back and talk 
about it.  Commissioner Davis said that is why he asked the question earlier about how your 
neighborhood feels about this.  Commissioner Davis said he doesn’t want to see either party spend a 
lot of money fighting an uphill battle that you can’t win. Commissioner Davis said but if you see 
light at the end of the tunnel and they see the benefit of it, it’s up to you to move ahead.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said there are a lot of exit ramps on this road.  An Ocean Side Place representative said 
we need to get some actual figures and we can say this is what it is going to cost to annex into the 
Town.  Mr. Mendenhall said discussed Carolina Shores North.  An Ocean Side Place representative 
said would we still control our own POA money.  Mr. Mendenhall said yes. Commissioner Davis 
said your POA money is your POA money and your rules still stay your rules as long as they are not 
in conflict with the Town rules. Commissioner Davis said everything stays the same in your 
community. Commissioner Davis said we all live in a HOA or POA now and we all have our own 



4 
 

Boards and money. Mayor Dunn said you can’t be less restrictive then the Town on your rules. An 
Ocean Side Place representative said we probably have to initiate a survey to our community. 
Commissioner Davis said to hold several small meetings where the residents can hear the facts 
directly to them.  Mayor Dunn said it is important to know how the road projects work.  Mr. 
Mendenhall said the CIP is projected out until 2030. Mayor Dunn said her community is the oldest 
in the Town and some of their roads are still on the list to be done as we rotate around. 
Commissioner Davis said his community has roads that aren’t even accepted into the Town yet and 
your roads may end up being above his. Mr. Mendenhall said we try to take the worst first so it 
doesn’t lead to more work in the end. Mr. Mendenhall said there is a neighborhood or two that we 
maybe caught too late. Commissioner Brennan said work started maybe in 2006 and that was four 
years after annexation. Commissioner Davis said we found roads over there that were just asphalt on 
dirt.  An Ocean Side Place representative said that’s what our builder did to us. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said the community was started in 1990 and it was basically completed in 2005-2006. 
An Ocean Side Place representative said Traditional came in and started building homes and they 
were finished about 2006 and that was Phase 3. We had three phases. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we as the POA sued WJ McLamb for the roads and we got a little bit of money 
but nothing compared to what it would take to fix the roads. Mr. Mendenhall asked how much they 
are spending on roads now.  An Ocean Side Place representative said we spent about $17,000.00 last 
year and we will probably spend $30,000.00-$40,000 this year.  An Ocean Side Place representative 
said last year we patched and crack-filled about 800 square feet and the patches were different sizes. 
Commissioner Mayhew asked about their ditches that need some work and asked if there were any 
flooding. An Ocean Side Place representative said we had no flooding. Commissioner Davis asked 
if any rainwater goes down and goes through pipes and the answer was no, it all goes into the 
swales. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have two retention ponds.  An Ocean Side Place 
representative said the ditches and swales all need a little work. An Ocean Side Place representative 
said when we had that 22 inches of rain in 2015, nobody had water in their house. Commissioner 
Davis asked if they have the easements on the ditches and the answer was yes. An Oceanside Place 
representative said we own 20 foot across the swales.  A map was reviewed of Ocean Side and 
discussed with the Commission.  An Ocean Side Place representative said we have no curbs to speak 
of. An Ocean Side Place representative said Lot 81 is a non-buildable lot and that is where the 
second pond is.  An Ocean Side Place representative said there are some corrugated pipes.  An 
Ocean Side Place representative said there is common ground and you have to cut through 
somebody’s property to get back there. An Ocean Side Place representative said we have a 
groundskeeper that takes care of all the common areas. An Ocean Side Place representative said 
there is a swale that you can’t get a bulldozer back to.  There was discussion on the ditch that goes to 
Carolina Shores North and there is a problem getting back there. There was further discussion on 
getting to the ditch to clean it out. Commissioner Davis said based on the size of your two ponds, 
he’s amazed they can handle all the water and the response was, we are too. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said during that storm, the ponds spilled over into the ditch and came up on the roads 
but we never had an issue with a home. Mr. Mendenhall said the objective for you all are the streets 
and the drainage and you still would maintain the common ground. Commissioner Davis said we 
only mow, we don’t do beautification.  Commissioner Davis said his community does their own 
islands and common grounds because we want it cut more than once a month.  Mr. Mendenhall said 
the Town operates on a highway public standard, no beautification, no esthetics.  Mr. Mendenhall 
said if you want it a certain way, you all have to pay the difference for what you want. 
Commissioner Davis said the Town doesn’t do shrubs and flowers, they cut grass. Commissioner 
Davis said he didn’t know about the agreement with the individual lamp posts but we would pay for 
your streetlights if you came in. Commissioner Davis said that is $17.25 per streetlight, per month 
but you would have to contact BEMC. Commissioner Davis said they are every 225 feet and if you 
want more than that, you have to pay the difference. Commissioner Davis said we have the 
decorative lights in Calabash Lakes and they are not for safety. Commissioner Davis said the only 
big light they have is at the entrance. There was further discussion on streetlights.  An Ocean Side 



5 
 

Place representative said do we have the option to say no to streetlights and Commissioner Davis 
said yes but it is a selling point. Mr. Bob Leger left the meeting at 7:04 pm. Mr. Mendenhall said we 
have a standard for markings such as street signs and stop signs. Mr. Mendenhall said we handle 
storm debris; we take care of all that. Commissioner Davis said your residents could bring their yard 
debris to the Recycle Center and trash and recyclables.  Commissioner Davis said you do need a 
permit sticker to get in.  Mr. Mendenhall discussed storm debris a little further. Commissioner Davis 
said storm debris removal is ridiculous; it was a half million dollars just for Florence, just for 
removal. Mr. Mendenhall said you probably had ditch damage, that would be his guess. Mr. 
Mendenhall said we had a lot about $700,000.00 - $800,000.00 and all of that is FEMA 
reimbursable.  Mr. Mendenhall said the Town makes the permanent repairs and then FEMA comes 
in and pays about 75% of it and the state will pay 25% if you are a government entity. Mr. 
Mendenhall said we do all the road patching in-house as we have all the equipment. Commissioner 
Mayhew asked what the timeline is for this process and if they should go out and spend another 
$15,000.00-$20,000.00 this year. Mr. Mendenhall said its about 18 months. Mr. Mendenhall said the 
study for Phase 1 is about 6 months and Phase 2 is another 6 months. Mr. Mendenhall said that 
Holland Consulting Planners did our last study. Mr. Mendenhall said we didn’t talk to Carolina 
Shores North for one meeting and then pull the trigger, there were several meetings. Commissioner 
Davis said you are all going to have a lot of things you want to say to each other without the Town 
being there so get all of that taken care of.  An Ocean Side Place representative said as far as 
property taxes, that surprised a lot of people being $0.10 on a hundred. Mr. Mendenhall said on their 
tax bill, instead of two lines, they would see three lines.  Mr. Mendenhall said take your assessed 
value and divide it by 100 and then multiply it by .1016.  Commissioner Davis said that is exactly 
what it is going to be. An Ocean Side Place representative said we would still be responsible for 
anything we wanted to do on the common areas.  An Ocean Side Place representative said the only 
things we would take out of our budget is what we would spend on roads and ditches.  
Commissioner Davis said or debris removal.  Commissioner Davis said we don’t pick-up your 
clubhouse or pool. An Ocean Side Place representative said to remain status-quo we would still have 
to have a groundskeeper to keep things the way we want them and Commissioner Davis said that is 
correct.  An Ocean Side Place representative said what if our residents asked to meet with you and 
Mayor Dunn sure. Commissioner Davis said we will meet anytime anyplace. An Ocean Side Place 
representative said we could invite you to our clubhouse for a meeting.  Mr. Mendenhall said there 
are a couple of logistical things.  Mr. Mendenhall said this is a public body and we have to give 
proper notice of the meeting or you can meet two at a time.  Commissioner Davis said if you want 
the entire Board, it has to be a public meeting. Commissioner Davis said legally we have to put the 
notice out there. Mr. Mendenhall said if you would like to see our equipment, we can just schedule a 
time.  Commissioner Davis said in the last three years we have doubled the work force for 
Maintenance. Commissioner Davis said we have 9 full-time Maintenance Workers. Commissioner 
Davis said we have a couple million dollars in equipment. An Oceanside Place representative said I 
was glad to see the old water tank come down. Commissioner Davis said we are building some new 
parks.  Mayor Dunn asked Commissioner Dale if he had anything to say and Commissioner Dale 
said he doesn’t have anything to say, he’s sorry. An Ocean Side Place representative said will you 
need to have a sticker for these parks.  Mayor Dunn said there won’t be anyone at the gate to check. 
Commissioner Davis said it will be an honor system. An Ocean Side Place representative said we 
will get together within the community and figure out how we are going to approach it.  An Ocean 
Side Place representative said we may very well ask that your Board meet with members of our 
community. An Ocean Side Place representative said we will probably meet and talk sometime in 
May. The representatives from Ocean Side Place thanked the Board and said it was extremely 
helpful and very productive. 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

Adjourn: 
 

COMMISSIONER BRENNAN MADE A MOTION TO ADJOURN THE MARCH 27, 2019 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION SPECIAL CALLED MEETING AT 7:24 PM. 
COMMISSIONER DAVIS SECONDED THE MOTION. MAYOR DUNN CALLED FOR A 
VOTE AND MOTION CARRIED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE. 

 

 

 
 

Mayor 
 
 

Submitted by: 

Nicole L. Hewett, Town Clerk 
 


